

with SPSS



& Duncan Cramer

Sixth edition

Introduction to Statistics in Psychology

PEARSON

At Pearson, we have a simple mission: to help people make more of their lives through learning.

We combine innovative learning technology with trusted content and educational expertise to provide engaging and effective learning experiences that serve people wherever and whenever they are learning.

From classroom to boardroom, our curriculum materials, digital learning tools and testing programmes help to educate millions of people worldwide – more than any other private enterprise.

Every day our work helps learning flourish, and wherever learning flourishes, so do people.

To learn more, please visit us at www.pearson.com/uk



Introduction to Statistics in Psychology

Sixth Edition

Dennis HowittLoughborough UniversityDuncan CramerLoughborough University



Harlow, England • London • New York • Boston • San Francisco • Toronto • Sydney • Auckland • Singapore • Hong Kong Tokyo • Seoul • Taipei • New Delhi • Cape Town • São Paulo • Mexico City • Madrid • Amsterdam • Munich • Paris • Milan Pearson Education Limited Edinburgh Gate Harlow CM20 2JE United Kingdom Tel: +44 (0)1279 623623 Web: www.pearson.com/uk

First published 1997 (print) Second edition published 2000 (print) Revised second edition 2003 (print) Third edition 2005 (print) Fourth edition 2008 (print) Fifth edition 2011 (print) Sixth edition published 2014 (print and electronic)

Prentice Hall Europe 1997 (print)
 Pearson Education Limited 2000, 2011 (print)
 Pearson Education Limited 2014 (print and electronic)

The rights of Dennis Howitt and Duncan Cramer to be identified as authors of this work have been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without either the prior written permission of the publisher or a licence permitting restricted copying in the United Kingdom issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd, Saffron House, 6–10 Kirby Street, London EC1N 8TS.

The ePublication is protected by copyright and must not be copied, reproduced, transferred, distributed, leased, licensed or publicly performed or used in any way except as specifically permitted in writing by the publishers, as allowed under the terms and conditions under which it was purchased, or as strictly permitted by applicable copyright law. Any unauthorised distribution or use of this text may be a direct infringement of the author's and the publishers' rights and those responsible may be liable in law accordingly.

All trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners. The use of any trademark in this text does not vest in the author or publisher any trademark ownership rights in such trademarks, nor does the use of such trademarks imply any affiliation with or endorsement of this book by such owners.

ISBN: 978-1-292-00074-9 (print) 978-1-292-00076-3 (PDF) 978-1-292-00075-6 (eText)

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data A catalogue record for the print edition is available from the British Library

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Howitt, Dennis.

Introduction to statistics in psychology / Dennis Howitt, Loughborough University, Duncan Cramer, Loughborough University. -- 6th Edition.

pages cm ISBN 978-1-292-00074-9 1. Psychometrics. I. Cramer, Duncan, 1948- II. Title. BF39.H74 2013 150.1'5195--dc23

2013037101

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 18 17 16 15 14

Cover image © Getty Images

Print edition typeset in 9.5/12pt Sabon by 35 Print edition printed in Great Britain by Butler, Tanner and Dennis Ltd

NOTE THAT ANY PAGE CROSS REFERENCES REFER TO THE PRINT EDITION

Brief contents

	Contents Guided tour	vii xx
	Introduction	XXV
	Acknowledgements	xxvii
1	Why statistics?	1
Part 1	Descriptive statistics	17
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	Some basics: Variability and measurement Describing variables: Tables and diagrams Describing variables numerically: Averages, variation and spread Shapes of distributions of scores Standard deviation and z-scores: The standard unit of measurement in statistics Relationships between two or more variables: Diagrams and tables Correlation coefficients: Pearson correlation and Spearman's rho Regression: Prediction with precision	19 29 44 58 71 86 98 120
Part 2	Significance testing	133
10 11	Samples and populations: Generalising and inferring Statistical significance for the correlation coefficient:	135
10	A practical introduction to statistical inference	143
12	Standard error: The standard deviation of the means of samples	157
13	The <i>t</i> -test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/related/paried scores	105
15	Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data	196
16	Probability	218
17	Reporting significance levels succinctly	224
18 19	One-tailed versus two-tailed significance testing Ranking tests: Nonparametric statistics	232 238
Part 3	Introduction to analysis of variance	253
20	The variance ratio test: The <i>F</i> -ratio to compare two variances	255
21	Analysis of variance (ANOVA): Introduction to the one-way unrelated or	
22	uncorrelated ANOVA	264
22	Analysis of variance for correlated scores or repeated measures Two-way analysis of variance for unrelated/uncorrelated scores:	282
	Two studies for the price of one?	298
24	Multiple comparisons in ANUVA: Just where do the differences lie?	326
26	Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA): Controlling for additional variables	354

27 28 29	Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) Discriminant (function) analysis – especially in MANOVA Statistics and the analysis of experiments	370 386 401
Part 4	More advanced correlational statistics	409
30	Partial correlation: Spurious correlation, third or confounding variables,	
24	suppressor variables	411
31	Factor analysis: Simplifying complex data	423
32	Path analysis	444
34	The analysis of a questionnaire/survey project	400
51		110
Part 5	Assorted advanced techniques	485
35	The size of effects in statistical analysis: Do my findings matter?	487
36	Meta-analysis: Combining and exploring statistical findings from	
	previous research	495
37	Reliability in scales and measurement: Consistency and agreement	515
38	Confidence intervals	529
39	Statistical power applysis. Cotting the sample size right	540 562
40	Statistical power analysis. Getting the sample size right	502
Part 6	Advanced qualitative or nominal techniques	587
41	Log-linear methods: The analysis of complex contingency tables	589
42	categories or groups	614
43	Binomial logistic regression	632
		<i></i>
	Appendices	649
	Glossary	685
	References	693
	Index	699

Contents Guided tour Introduction Acknowledgements 1 Why statistics? Overview 1.1 Introduction 1.2 Research on learning statistics 1.3 What makes learning statistics difficult? 1.4 Positive about statistics 1.5 What statistics doesn't do 1.6 Easing the way 1.7 What do I need to know to be an effective user of statistics? 1.8 A few words about SPSS Key points

XX

xxv

ххvіі

1

1

2

4

5 7

10

12

13

15

16

17

Part 1 Descriptive statistics

2	Some basics: Variability and measurement	19
	Overview	19
2.1	Introduction	20
2.2	Variables and measurement	21
2.3	Major types of measurement	22
	Key points	26
	Computer analysis	27
3	Describing variables: Tables and diagrams	29
	Overview	29
3.1	Introduction	30
3.2	Choosing tables and diagrams	31
3.3	Errors to avoid	39
	Key points	40
	Computer analysis	40

4	Describing variables numerically: Averages, variation and spread	44
/1 1	Introduction	44
4.1	Typical scores, mean median and mode	45
4.2	Comparison of mean, median and mode	40 50
4.5	The spread of scores: variability	50
-1-1	Key noints	55
	Computer analysis	56
5	Shapes of distributions of scores	58
	Overview	58
5.1	Introduction	59
5.2	Histograms and frequency curves	59
5.3	The normal curve	60
5.4	Distorted curves	62
5.5	Other frequency curves	64
	Key points	68
	Computer analysis	69
6	Standard deviation and z-scores: The standard unit of measurement	
	in statistics	/1
6.4	Overview	/1
6.1	Introduction	72
6.2	Ineoretical background	12
0.5 6.4		70
0.4 6.5	A use of 2-scores	79
6.6	An important feature of z-scores	70 82
0.0	Key noints	83
	Computer analysis	84
_		04
7	Relationships between two or more variables: Diagrams and tables	86
71	Introduction	00 97
7.1	The principles of diagrammatic and tabular presentation	88
73	Type Δ , both variables numerical scores	89
7.4	Type R: both variables nominal categories	91
7.5	Type C: one variable nominal categories, the other numerical scores	93
	Key noints	95
	Computer analysis	96
8	Correlation coefficients: Pearson correlation and Spearman's rho	98
	Overview	98
8.1	Introduction	99
8.2	Principles of the correlation coefficient	100

8.3	Some rules to check out	106
8.4	Coefficient of determination	108
8.5	Significance testing	109
8.6	Spearman's rho – another correlation coefficient	109
8.7	An example from the literature	113
	Key points	115
	Computer analysis	116
9	Regression: Prediction with precision	120
	Overview	120
9.1	Introduction	121
9.2	Theoretical background and regression equations	124
9.3	Standard error: how accurate are the predicted score and the	
	regression equations?	128
	Key points	130
	Computer analysis	131

Part 2Significance testing133

10	Samples and populations: Generalising and inferring	135
	Overview	135
10.1	Introduction	136
10.2	Theoretical considerations	136
10.3	The characteristics of random samples	138
10.4	Confidence intervals	140
	Key points	140
	Computer analysis	141
11	Statistical significance for the correlation coefficient:	
	A practical introduction to statistical inference	143
	Overview	143
11.1	Introduction	144
11.2	Theoretical considerations	144
11.3	Back to the real world: the null hypothesis	146
11.4	Pearson's correlation coefficient again	148
11.5	The Spearman's rho correlation coefficient	152
	Key points	154
	Computer analysis	155

Overview15712.1Introduction15812.2Theoretical considerations15812.3Estimated standard deviation and standard error159Key points162Computer analysis16313The t-test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores16513.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores1790verview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19519815.3Partitioning chi-square20515.4Introduction20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples - the McNemar test212Key points215Recommended further reading215	12	Standard error: The standard deviation of the means of samples	157
12.1Introduction15812.2Theoretical considerations15812.3Estimated standard deviation and standard error159Key points162Computer analysis16313The t-test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores165Overview16513.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview179Overview179Overview18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square21615.7Chi-square for related sa		Overview	157
12.2Theoretical considerations15812.3Estimated standard deviation and standard error159Key points162Computer analysis16313The t-test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores165Overview16513.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19615.1Introduction19815.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square and known populations21015.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis2158Example for the literature212Key points214Computer analysis2	12.1	Introduction	158
12.3Estimated standard deviation and standard error159Key points162Computer analysis16313The t-test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores165Overview16513.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data196Overview19515.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square212Key points214Compu	12.2	Theoretical considerations	158
Key points162 Computer analysis13The t-test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores165 0verview131Introduction166132Dependent and independent variables168133Some basic revision168134Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis169135Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error186154.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test212Key points214Computer analysis21515.6Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example for me liter	12.3	Estimated standard deviation and standard error	159
Computer analysis16313The t-test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores165Overview16513.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19314.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square21015.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis21415.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test		Key points	162
13The t-test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores1650/vrview16513.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores1790/verview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960/verview19515.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Chi-square for related samples - the McNemar test21215.8Example for the literature212Key points214Computer analysis21415.7Chi-square for related samples - the McNemar test21215.8Example for the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215		Computer analysis	163
Overview16513.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19315.1Introduction19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square19815.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points21420015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature21215.9Recommended further reading214	13	The <i>t</i> -test: Comparing two samples of correlated/related/paired scores	165
13.1Introduction16613.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data196Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215215.8Ecommended further reading217		Overview	165
13.2Dependent and independent variables16813.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19515.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	13.1	Introduction	166
13.3Some basic revision16813.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	13.2	Dependent and independent variables	168
13.4Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis16913.5Cautionary note174 <i>Key points</i> 176 <i>Computer analysis</i> 17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179 <i>Overview</i> 17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192 <i>Key points</i> 193 <i>Computer analysis</i> 193 <i>Computer analysis</i> 19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960/serview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples - the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	13.3	Some basic revision	168
13.5Cautionary note174Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	13.4	Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis	169
Key points176Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores179Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	13.5	Cautionary note	174
Computer analysis17714The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores1790verview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points21420515.8Example from the literature212Key points215215Recommended further reading217		Key points	176
14The t-test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test212Key points214Computer analysis21515.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis21515.8Example for metalterature212Key points214Computer analysis21515.8Example form the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217		Computer analysis	177
Overview17914.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data196Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	14	The <i>t</i> -test: Comparing two samples of unrelated/uncorrelated scores	179
14.1Introduction18014.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data1960verview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214214Computer analysis21515.6Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature214Key points214214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217		Overview	179
14.2Theoretical considerations18114.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data196Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	14.1	Introduction	180
14.3Standard deviation and standard error18614.4Cautionary note19214.4Cautionary note193 <i>Key points</i> 193 <i>Computer analysis</i> 19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data196 <i>Overview</i> 19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	14.2	Theoretical considerations	181
14.4Cautionary note192Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data196Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214205215.8Example for malysis215215.8Ecommended further reading217	14.3	Standard deviation and standard error	186
Key points193Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data196Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21015.7Example from the literature212Key points21420515.8Example from the literature212Key points215215Recommended further reading217	14.4	Cautionary note	192
Computer analysis19415Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature21215.8Example from the literature21215.8Example from the literature215Recommended further reading215		Key points	193
15Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature21215.8Example from the literature214Computer analysis215215Recommended further reading217		Computer analysis	194
Overview19615.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214215 <i>Recomputer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	15	Chi-square: Differences between samples of frequency data	196
15.1Introduction19715.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217		Overview	196
15.2Theoretical issues19815.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	15.1	Introduction	197
15.3Partitioning chi-square20415.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	15.2	Theoretical issues	198
15.4Important warnings20515.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	15.3	Partitioning chi-square	204
15.5Alternatives to chi-square20515.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	15.4	Important warnings	205
15.6Chi-square and known populations21015.7Chi-square for related samples - the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212 <i>Key points</i> 214 <i>Computer analysis</i> 215 <i>Recommended further reading</i> 217	15.5	Alternatives to chi-square	205
15.7Chi-square for related samples - the McNemar test21215.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	15.6	Chi-square and known populations	210
15.8Example from the literature212Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	15.7	Chi-square for related samples – the McNemar test	212
Key points214Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217	15.8	Example from the literature	212
Computer analysis215Recommended further reading217		Key points	214
Recommended further reading 217		Computer analysis	215
		Recommended further reading	217

16	Probability	218
	Overview	218
16.1	Introduction	219
16.2	The principles of probability	219
16.3	Implications	221
	Key points	223
17	Reporting significance levels succinctly	224
	Overview	224
17.1	Introduction	225
17.2	Shortened forms	225
17.3	Examples from the published literature	226
	Key points	230
	Computer analysis	231
18	One-tailed versus two-tailed significance testing	232
	Overview	232
18.1	Introduction	233
18.2	Theoretical considerations	233
18.3	Further requirements	235
	Key points	237
	Computer analysis	237
19	Ranking tests: Nonparametric statistics	238
	Overview	238
19.1	Introduction	239
19.2	Theoretical considerations	239
19.3	Nonparametric statistical tests	241
19.4	Three or more groups of scores	249
	Key points	250
	Computer analysis	250
	Recommended further reading	252

Part 3	Introduction to analysis of variance	253
20	The variance ratio test: The <i>F</i> -ratio to compare two variances	255
	Overview	255
20.1	Introduction	256
20.2	Theoretical issues and an application	257
	Key points	261
	Computer analysis	262

xii	CONTENTS

21	Analysis of variance (ANOVA): Introduction to the one-way unrelated or uncorrelated ANOVA	264
	Overview	264
21.1	Introduction	265
21.2	Some revision and some new material	265
21.3	Theoretical considerations	266
21.4	Degrees of freedom	270
21.5	The analysis of variance summary table	276
	Key points	279
	Computer analysis	280
22	Analysis of variance for correlated scores or repeated measures	282
	Overview	282
22.1	Introduction	283
22.2	Theoretical considerations underlying the computer analysis	285
22.3	Examples	286
	Key points	295
	Computer analysis	296
23	Two-way analysis of variance for unrelated/uncorrelated scores:	
	Two studies for the price of one?	298
	Overview	298
23.1		299
23.2	Theoretical considerations	300
23.3	Steps in the analysis	302
23.4	More on Interactions	315
23.3		222
	Computer analysis	322
		525
24	Multiple comparisons in ANOVA: Just where do the differences lie?	326
24.1	Overview	326
24.1	Introduction	327
24.2	Planned versus a nostariori (nost hac) comparisons	320
24.5	The Scheffé test for one-way ANOVA	330
24.5	Multiple comparisons for multifactorial ANOVA	332
	Key points	334
	Computer analysis	335
	Recommended further reading	336

25	Mixed-design ANOVA: Related and unrelated variables together	337
	Overview	337
25.1	Introduction	338
25.2	Mixed designs and repeated measures	338
	Key points	301 251
	Computer unurysis Recommended further reading	353
		555
26	Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA): Controlling for additional variables	354
	Overview	354
26.1	Introduction	355
26.2	Analysis of covariance	356
	Key points	267
	Computer unarysis Recommended further reading	360
		505
27	Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA)	370
07.4	Overview	370
27.1		371
27.2	MANOVA s two stages	374
21.5	Poporting your findings	201
21.4	Key noints	382
	Computer analysis	383
	Recommended further reading	385
28	Discriminant (function) analysis – especially in MANOVA	386
	Overview	386
28.1	Introduction	387
28.2	Doing the discriminant function analysis	389
28.3	Reporting your findings	396
	Key points	397
	Computer analysis	398
	Recommended further reading	400
29	Statistics and the analysis of experiments	401
	Overview	401
29.1	Introduction	402
29.2	The Patent Stats Pack	402
29.3	Checklist	403
29.4	Special cases	407
	Key points	408

Part 4	More advanced correlational statistics	409
30	Partial correlation: Spurious correlation, third or confounding variables, suppressor variables	411
	Overview	411
30.1	Introduction	412
30.2	Theoretical considerations	413
30.3	Doing partial correlation	415
30.4	Interpretation	416
30.5	Multiple control variables	417
30.6	Suppressor variables	417
30.7	An example from the research literature	418
30.8	An example from a student's work	419
	Key points	420
	Computer analysis	421
31	Factor analysis: Simplifying complex data	423
	Overview	423
31.1	Introduction	424
31.2	A bit of history	425
31.3	Concepts in factor analysis	427
31.4	Decisions, decisions	429
31.5	Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis	434
31.6	An example of factor analysis from the literature	436
31.7	Reporting the results	439
	Key points	440
	Computer analysis	441
	Recommended further reading	443
32	Multiple regression and multiple correlation	444
	Overview	444
32.1	Introduction	445
32.2	Theoretical considerations	445
32.3	Stepwise multiple regression example	451
32.4	Reporting the results	454
32.5	An example from the published literature	454
	Key points	456
	Computer analysis	457
	Recommended further reading	459

33	Path analysis	460
	Overview	460
33.1	Introduction	461
33.2	Theoretical considerations	461
33.3	An example from published research	468
33.4	Reporting the results	471
	Key points	473
	Computer analysis	473
	Recommended further reading	475
34	The analysis of a questionnaire/survey project	476
	Overview	476
34.1	Introduction	477
34.2	The research project	477
34.3	The research hypothesis	479
34.4	Initial variable classification	480
34.5	Further coding of data	481
34.6	Data cleaning	482
34.7	Data analysis	482
	Key points	484

Part 5	Assorted advanced techniques	485
35	The size of effects in statistical analysis: Do my findings matter?	487
	Overview	487
35.1	Introduction	488
35.2	Statistical significance	488
35.3	Method and statistical efficiency	489
35.4	Size of the effect in studies	490
35.5	An approximation for nonparametric tests	492
35.6	Analysis of variance (ANOVA)	492
	Key points	494
36	Meta-analysis: Combining and exploring statistical findings from	
	previous research	495
	Overview	495
36.1	Introduction	496
36.2	The Pearson correlation coefficient as the effect size	498
36.3	Other measures of effect size	498
36.4	Effects of different characteristics of studies	499
36.5	First steps in meta-analysis	500

36.6	Illustrative example	506
36.7	Comparing a study with a previous study	510
36.8	Reporting the results	510
	Key points	512
	Computer analysis	512
	Recommended further redaing	514
37	Reliability in scales and measurement: Consistency and agreement	515
	Overview	515
37.1	Introduction	516
37.2	Item-analysis using item–total correlation	517
37.3	Split-half reliability	518
37.4	Airpha reliability	213
51.5	Key noints	526
	Computer analysis	527
	Recommended further reading	528
20	Confidence intervals	520
20		529
38.1	Introduction	530
38.2	The relationship between significance and confidence intervals	533
38.3	Regression	536
38.4	Other confidence intervals	537
	Key points	538
	Computer analysis	539
39	The influence of moderator variables on relationships between two variables	540
	Overview	540
39.1	Introduction	541
39.2	Statistical approaches to finding moderator effects	545
39.3	The hierarchical multiple regression approach to identifying moderator effects (or	EAE
20 A	The ANOVA approach to identifying moderator offects (i.e. interactions)	555
55.4	Key noints	559
	Computer analysis	560
	Recommended further reading	561
40	Statistical nower analysis: Getting the sample size right	562
40	Overview	562
40.1	Introduction	563
40.2	Types of statistical power analysis and their limitations	573
40.3	Doing power analysis	575
40.4	Calculating power	577

40.5	Reporting the results Key points Computer analysis	581 582 583
Part 6	Advanced qualitative or nominal techniques	587
41	Log-linear methods: The analysis of complex contingency tables Overview	589 589
41.1	Introduction	590
41.2	A two-variable example	592
41.3	A three-variable example	599
41.4	Reporting the results	610
	Key points	611
	Computer analysis	612
	Recommended further reading	613
42	Multinomial logistic regression: Distinguishing between several different categories or groups	614
40.4	Overview	614
42.1	Introduction	615
42.2	Dummy variables	617
42.3	What can multinomial logistic regression do?	618
42.4	Worked example	620
42.5	Accuracy of the prediction	621
42.6	How good are the predictors?	622
42.7	The prediction	625
42.8	Interpreting the results	627
42.9	Reporting the results	628
	Key points	629
	Computer analysis	030
43	Binomial logistic regression	632
	Overview	632
43.1	Introduction	633
43.2	Typical example	637
43.3	Applying the logistic regression procedure	640
43.4	The regression formula	644
43.5	Reporting the results	645
	Key points	646
	computer unalysis	047

	Appendices	
Appendix A	Testing for excessively skewed distributions	649
Appendix B1	Large-sample formulae for the nonparametric tests	652
Appendix B2	Nonparametric tests for three or more groups	654
Appendix C	Extended table of significance for the Pearson correlation coefficient	660
Appendix D	Table of significance for the Spearman correlation coefficient	663
Appendix E	Extended table of significance for the <i>t</i> -test	666
Appendix F	Table of significance for chi-square	669
Appendix G	Extended table of significance for the sign test	670
Appendix H	Table of significance for the Wilcoxon matched pairs test	673
Appendix l	Table of significance for the Mann–Whitney U-test	676
Appendix J	Table of significance values for the <i>F</i> -distribution	679
Appendix K	Table of significant values of t when making multiple t-tests	682
	Glossary	685
	References	693

Index

693 699

Companion Website

For open-access **student resources** specifically written to complement this textbook and support your learning, please visit **www.pearsoned.co.uk/howitt**



Lecturer Resources

For password-protected online resources tailored to support the use of this textbook in teaching, please visit www.pearsoned.co.uk/howitt



Clear overview

Introduce the chapter to give students a feel for the topics covered.

Key concepts

Offer guidance on the important concepts and issues discussed in the text.

CHAPTER 11 STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE FOR THE CORRELATION COEFFICIEN

Box 11.1 Focus on

148

Do correlations differ?

Due to contraction the dapper was accompany a matricular conduston coefficient to their work of the set of th

11.4 Pearson's correlation coefficient again

ONE SCOPELATION COEFFICIENT AGAIN If you only ever use computer programs for your statistical analyses then you will not read what is in the section. Computer programs such as MPS give east significance to the section of the section. Computer programs such as MPS give east significance to the section of the section. Computer programs such as MPS give east significance to the section of the section. Computer programs such as MPS give east significance to east the significance level, then what do you do Thus or of sintantion does hap-pen and not every research paper is exempliary in its statistical analysis. Or you simply what do you do Thue are other circumstances in which you cannot rely on using the computer. So this section we will explain how significance levels may be obtained from bases loss gas you howe the size of the correlation coefficient and the sample size (or do relationship between the two variables is 0.000 in the population (dotting by the multipropositio). So what if it, an sample of 10 pairs of east, the correlation is 0. To relationship between the two variables is 0.000 in the population (dotting by the mult population. How the size of the correlation is of east, the correlation is 0. To find during in Table 11.3? Deparations there the true correlation is zaroly? We are back in our basis problem of bow hick pin that a correlation of 0.94 would occur if there really is no correlation in the population. Mere the true correlation is correly? We are back in earbow and box hick in that a correlation is paper when the size of the true on the population (dotting the correlation is drawn from this population. How the true correlation is correlation of bow hick is in that a correlation is parally in the population of own of 10.94 would occur if there really is no correlation of box to eastimate the variability in the population. There has block in the correlation of occes, to the correlation of the correlation is correlation is a sample of a sample of a source of 10 pairs dra



Focus on

Explore particular concepts in more detail.

Explaining statistics

Take students through a statistical test with a detailed step-by-step explanation.

R 26 ANALYSIS OF COVARIANCE (ANCOVA): CONTROLLING FOR ADDITIONAL VARIABLE Research examples ANCOVA

Cumming and co-workers (2012) studied the effect of physically maturing early in addiescence on the physical activity of grins. Research has suggested that grins reduce their amounts of physical activity during addeescence and the health-related issues that this entails are obvious. If there are lofe re any maturino in this? The study compared early and late maturing addeescence grins with an average age of 22 years. The dependent variables were health-related maturing addeescence grins within a were grant and the study and the health-related ty of file in each case it was expected that early maturing grins would score lower. The analysis employed included is at the constraints since a hybroxy maturitation and age correlate together Although the size of the di-ferences tended to be small to moderate, the ARCOVAR repeatedly showed that early maturing grins scored lower on the health-related variables. It is noteworthly that early maturing grins scored towers on the health-related variables. The scored hybrid tender the score file scored hybrid to the score file to the score score hybrid hybrid to the distribution of the grins of modified to the score of the health-related variables. The scored hybrid tender the score file health-related valies. This may have a bearing on three lower levels of involvement in physical activity. There, Bassa and Charlon 1027 hisroxitation the effect of normal context by the administration and grins of head to attacks. This may have a bearing on their lower levels of involvement in physical activity.

or oppraticationments, into may more a owning on true to over evers or innovements in physical activity. Estevis, Basso and Control (2021) investigated to define c1 physical activity of the study and again a few month; later for some it was into the study and an experiment of the study of the study and again a few month; later for some it was and the study and an experiment of the study and again a few month; later for some it was and the study and the study and the study and again a few month; later for some it was and the study and the study and the study and again a few month; later for some study some the network later for some study and and the study and the study and the study and and the study solution. Some study and the study and study and the study and the study and the study and and the study and experiments and there entities the study and the study and the study and and the study and experiments and the study and the steries alseems the study and the study and the study and the study and the steries alseems the study and the study and the study and the study and study and the study and the study and the study and the study and study and the study and study and study and the study and study an

The interval between testing and netesting add not twae a significant effect. Worly and hetmic (222) write batt the previous research on the relationship between handedness and anxiety fails to indicate a clear conclusion. One reason for expecting a relationship between anxiety and handedness is that the right-anxiet and be hemplayere or the bars in showled in engative endotoal tasks and inhibitour. The reason-thermal states are analyzed to the state in showled to the states and inhibitour. The reason-thermal states are the state anxiety and thermal higher scores on state anxiety which supports the late of the init of the right-hemmighers that anxiety difference were found but trate and state anxiety were significantly correlated. So ARCOVA was employed with trat anxiety as the control variable because of this correlation. The handedness relationship to state anxiety emmed even in the anxiety with the origination they were experimenting in the reason's holdowid as or regioned with state anxiety with the authors suggest that information is mereasive personalities and to regioned with state anxiety and the resistantion. In the yeave experimenting in the reason's holdowid as a part of the research.

Key points

 Relying on ANCOVA to deal with the problems due to employing non-randomised allocation to the cells of the ANOVA ignores the basic reason for doing randomised experiments in the first place – that the researcher does not how what uninvom factors influence the outcome of the research, Random allocation to conditions is the only practical and sound way of fully controlling for variables nei included in the design. E is net vise to use AKCOM but ty to construct for the altophysic approximation of the alto

176 CHAPTER 13 THE 7-TEST: COMPARING TWO SAMPLES OF CORRELATED/RELATED/PAIRED SCORES

Key points

- The related or correlated r-test is memly a special case of the one-way analysis of variance for related samples (Chapter 22, Although it is frequently used in psychological research it tells us anothing more than the equi-valent analysis of variance would do. Since the analysis of variance is generally a more fittelities tastical. For anyon the origination of groups of scores to be compared, implit be your preferred statistic. However, the common occurrence of the scale in psychological research means that buy used to have samples the about what it is the score in the scale in psychological research means that buy notes to have same three about the tast is the scale of the scale in psychological research means that buy notes to have same the about what it is the scale of the scale in psychological research means that buy notes to have same the about what it is the scale of the scale is psychological research means that buy notes to have same the about what it is the scale of the scale in psychological research means that buy notes to have same the about what it is the scale of the scale is psychological research means that buy notes to have same the about what it is the scale of the scale is psychological research means that buy notes to have same the about what it is the scale of the scale is psychological research means that buy notes to have same the scale of the scale
- The related t-test assumes that the distribution of the difference scores is not markedly skewed. If it is then
 the test may be unacceptably inaccurate. Appendix A explains how to test for skewness.
- If you compare many pairs of samples with each other in the same study using the r-test, you should consult Chapter 24 to find out about appropriate significance levels. There are better ways of making multiple comparisons, as they are called, but with appropriate adjustment to the critical values for significance, multiple r-tests can be justified.
- If you find that your related t-test is not significant, it could be that your two samples of scores are not
 correlated, thus not meeting the assumptions of the related t-test. Significance table 111 applies wheneve have estimated the standard error from the characteristics of a sample-However, if we had actually known the population standard deviation and consequently the stand-ard error was the actual standard error and net an estimate, we should not use the -distribution table. In these rare (virtually unknown) circumstances, the distribution of the t-score formula is that for the z-scores.
- times are (virtually introving) incluminates, the outpaintain of the score strains as that to the scores. A Although the considered retar can be used to compare any paint scores, it does not always make sense to do as, for example, you could use the contelated retar to compare the weights and heights of papels to manned cal values and weights and the score of the score of the score of the score of the the score of the manned cal values and part of the score of the the comparison which is nonsensical in this case. The statistical test is not to have. On the other hand, one could compare a sample of people's values at different though is in the equipmentiquily.

Research examples

Demonstrate how the statistical tests have been used in real research.

Key points

Each chapter concludes with a set of the key points to provide a useful reminder when revising a topic



Computer analysis

Step-by-step advice and instruction on analysing data using SPSS Statistics is provided at the end of each chapter.



SPSS screenshots

The guidance on how to use SPSS for each statistical test is accompanied by screenshots, so the processes can be easily followed.

Introduction

Our hope is that this sixth edition of *Introduction to Statistics in Psychology* will contribute even more to the student learning experience. A number of changes have been made to this end. In particular, a new introductory chapter has been incorporated which discusses the importance of statistics and why some students find it difficult. One thing has not changed which sets this book apart from others aimed at students: it continues to provide an accessible introduction to the wide range of statistics that are employed by professional researchers. Students using earlier editions of the book will by now often be well into teaching and research careers of their own. We hope that these further enhancements may encourage them to keep *Introduction to Statistics in Psychology* permanently on their desks while they instruct their students how to do statistics properly.

We have considered very carefully the need for instruction into how to compute statistics using SPSS and other computer programs. Our approach in this book is to provide the basic steps needed for the computation but we have added a number of screenshots to help the reader with the analysis. Students of today are very familiar with computers and many do not need overly detailed instructions. Too much detailed step-by-step instruction tends to inhibit exploration of the program – trying things out simply to see what happens and using one's intelligence and a bit of knowledge to work out what things mean. Students can become fixated on the individual steps and fail to learn the complete picture of doing statistics using SPSS or other computer programs. In the end, learning to use a computer program is quicker if the user takes some responsibility for their learning. Much of our daily use of computers in general is on a trial and error basis (we don't need step-by-step instructions to use Facebook or eBay) so why should this be different for statistics programs? How many of us read instructions for the iPhone in detail before trying things out? Of course, there is nothing unusual about tying statistics textbooks to computer packages such as SPSS Statistics. Indeed, our Introduction to SPSS Statistics in *Psychology* is a good example of this approach. It provides just about the speediest and most thorough introduction to doing psychological statistics on SPSS. Unfortunately, SPSS is not the complete answer to the statistical needs of psychologists. It simply does not do everything that students (and professionals for that matter) need to know about. Some of these things are very simple and easily computed by hand if instructions are provided. Other things do require computer programs other than SPSS when procedures are not available on SPSS. We think that ideally psychologists should know the statistics which their discipline needs and not simply those that SPSS provides.

SPSS is very good at what it does but there are times when additional help is needed. This is why we introduce students to other programs which will be helpful to them when necessary. One of the most important features of SPSS Statistics is that it is virtually universally available to students for little or no cost thanks to site licensing agreements. Unfortunately, this is not true of other commercial statistics software. For that reason we have suggested and recommended programs which are essentially free for the user. The Web has a surprisingly large amount of such software to carry out a wide range of statistical routines. A few minutes using Google or some other search engine will often be bountifully productive. Some of these programs are there to be downloaded but others, applets, are instantly available for calculations. We have added at the end of each chapter, advice on the use of software.

This does not mean that we have abandoned responsibility for teaching how statistics works in favour of explaining how to press keys on a computer keyboard. Although we think it best that statistics are computed using statistics programs because the risk of simple calculation errors is reduced, it seems to us that knowing how to go about doing the calculations that computer programs will do for you leads to an understanding of statistics which relying on computers alone does not. So we have included in this edition sections entitled 'Explaining statistics' which are based on hand calculation methods which should help students understand better what the computer program does (more or less) when it is used to do that calculation. Statistical techniques, after all, are little more than the mathematical steps involved in their calculation. Of course, they may be ignored where this level of knowledge is not required.

The basic concept of the book remains the same – a modular statistics package that is accessible throughout to a wide ability range of students. We have attempted to achieve this while being as rigorous as possible where rigour is crucial. Ultimately this is a book for students, though its emphasis on statistics in practice means that it should be valuable to anyone seeking to familiarise themselves with the vast majority of common statistical techniques employed in modern psychology and related disciplines. Not all chapters will be useful to everyone but the book, taken as a whole, provides a sound basis for learning the statistics which professional psychologists use. In this sense, it eases the transition from being a student to being a professional.

Acknowledgements

Authors' acknowledgements

We could not have produced this book without the skills and hard work of a number of individuals. Indeed, over the years, many people have contributed in a variety of ways which have helped to make the book what it is. Their contribution is highly valued by us but we would like to mention by name some of those who have been involved in this new edition. In no particular order they are:

Ros Woodward, who was the copy editor for this edition. Her ability to turn the text design brief into the final layout is remarkable. At the same time, she spots so many typos and other problems in the manuscript that we are convinced that she has super-human powers.

Kevin Ancient supplied the text design without which the book would be far less readable and attractive to look at.

Sue Gard was the proof reader this time. This is a really difficult job for this book as you can imagine. Not only have the words got to be checked but the numbers too. She did a fabulous job of correcting the proofs and checking that we had no gone astray.

Kim Stringer prepared the index. This is a really important job for the user and you will find it all the easier to navigate the book thanks to Kim.

Nicola Woowat designed the cover which probably made you want to pick the book up in the first place. It looks good on your bookshelf thanks to her.

Kerrie Morton and Kay Holman were the production controllers. They do all the liaison work with typesetters and printers and keep things on schedule.

Mary Lince was the project editor. She is therefore a super-efficient master/mistress of the intricacies of publishing who we hold in awe. There is nothing that she can't do.

Janey Webb was the acquisitions editor. Her job is to make our lives unbearable in the nicest possible way. We constantly make changes to improve the manuscript to ensure that her voracious appetite for the best possible manuscripts is satisfied no matter how temporarily. She is a constant strength.

Finally, Jane Lawes has been the editorial assistant on this and other of our books for the past few years. She is leaving to go to pastures new and so this is a timely moment to wish her well in the future. We are grateful for everything that she has contributed and forgive her for getting us to do things that we didn't want to do!

Thanks to everyone for everything, especially their patience with us.

Publisher's acknowledgements

We are grateful to the following for permission to reproduce copyright material:

Figures

Figure 33.10 from The relation of formal education to ethnic prejudice: its reliability, validity and explanation, *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 25, pp. 41–56, Figure 1, p. 52 (Wagner, U. and Zick, A. 1995). Copyright © 1995 by John Wiley & Sons Ltd. Reproduced with permission of John Wiley & Sons Ltd; Figures 40.6, 40.7, 40.8 from G^* Power.

Screenshots

Screenshots 36.1, 36.2, 36.3, 36.4, 36.5, 36.6 from The Meta-Analysis Calculator, http://www.lyonsmorris.com/lyons/metaAnalysis/index.cfm, reproduced with permission from Larry C. Lyons; Screenshots 40.1, 40.2, 40.3 from G*Power.

SPSS screen images are reprinted courtesy of International Business Machines Corporation, © International Business Machines Corporation. SPSS Inc. was acquired by IBM in October, 2009. IBM, the IBM logo, ibm.com, and SPSS are trademarks or registered trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation, registered in many jurisdictions worldwide. Other product and service names might be trademarks of IBM or other companies. A current list of IBM trademarks is available on the Web at 'IBM Copyright and trademark information' at www.ibm.com/legal/copytrade.shtml.

Tables

Tables Appendix I.1, Appendix I.2 adapted from *Fundamentals of Behavioural Statistics*, McGraw-Hill (Runyon, R.P. and Haber, A. 1989) Table I, The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc; Significance Table 19.3 adapted and extended from Table I of R.P. Runyon and A. Haber (1989), *Fundamentals of Behavioural Statistics*, McGraw-Hill, The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc; Table 31.11 adapted from Motivational and informational functions and consquences of children's attention to peers' work, *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(3), pp. 347–60 (Butler, R. 1995), published by APA; Table 32.3 adapted from Relationship of gender, self-esteem, social class and racial identity to depression in blacks, *Journal of Black Psychology*, 20(2), pp. 157–74 (Munford, M.B. 1994), Copyright © 1994, Association of Black Psychologists. Reprinted by Permission of Sage Publications; Table 33.2 from The relation of formal education to ethnic prejudice: its reliability, validity and explanation, *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 25, pp. 41–56 (Wagner, U. and Zick, A. 1995), John Wiley & Sons.

Text

Extract on page 437 after Motivational and informational functions and consequences of children's attention to peers' work, *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(3), pp. 347–60, p. 350 (Butler, R. 1995), published by APA; Extract on page 471 from The relation of formal education to ethnic prejudice: its reliability, validity and explanation, *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 25, pp. 53–4 (Wagner, U. and Zick, A. 1995), John Wiley & Sons.

In some instances we have been unable to trace the owners of copyright material, and we would appreciate any information that would enable us to do so.

CHAPTER 1

Why statistics?

Overview

- Students do not regard statistics positively, research shows. More importantly, evidence suggests that a poor attitude towards statistics leads to poor learning. Student culture tends to reinforce what is bad in the learning environment for statistics.
- A student's experience within the school environment especially determines their attitudes to mathematics which in its turn impacts on their expectations concerning learning statistics.
- There is a mistaken belief among students that statistics is not central to professional work in psychology and other related careers. Why study something which is unnecessary for psychological work? The truth is quite different. Professional psychologists do use research based on quantitative methods and statistics in their work. Furthermore they are frequently expected to do relevant psychological research as part of their work as psychologists. Many other professions employ statistics routinely and so a good working knowledge of statistics puts psychology students at an advantage in the employment market.
- Learning statistics can be made hard simply because psychologists often employ old and outmoded statistical ideas. Some of these ideas are not only unhelpful but also unworkable. This can only contribute to the fog of confusion surrounding statistics experienced by many students. Textbook writers are frequently guilty of perpetuating these counterproductive ideas.
- Too much emphasis is placed on significance testing. This encourages students to overlook
 other major contributions of statistics to dealing with the problems inherent in research. It
 is important to understand the extensive nature and variety of statistics in psychology.
- The mathematical skills needed to develop a good working knowledge of statistics are few in number and well within the capabilities of most students. Even where these have been forgotten, they can be quickly learnt by a motivated student.

1.1 Introduction

For many psychology students the formula is simple: statistics = punishment. Statistics is 'sadistics'. Students often find a less palatable subject than statistics unimaginable. The majority would steer well clear of statistics given the choice. All in all, this amounts to a very unpromising learning environment. We usually do best when studying things that we are interested in and want to study. A modern training in psychology inevitably includes statistics – the very thing that students want to avoid. It is not surprising, then, that statistics is a problem area for many students. No two learners are alike, of course, and there is a minority of students who are much more positive towards learning statistics. And we should not forget the poor soul whose job it is to teach statistics to such reluctant students. At best this would appear to be a challenge, at worst an impossibility. Student ratings of statistics modules can bring tears to the eyes of all but the most classroom weary and hardened of lecturers. All round, what could be more unsatisfactory?

Why not just abandon the enterprise and leave statistics out of psychology degrees? What could be more simple? There are many good reasons why this cannot and will not happen. Statistics fills an important and central role in psychology and much psychological research is unthinkable without statistics. Wait a minute - statistics may be essential to many kinds of psychological research but surely there are many psychologists who help people immeasurably but who never do research? In the past this may have been the case but no longer. Most modern psychology careers are fundamentally tied to research in some way. Once this might have meant that psychologists working in fields such as education and mental health merely had to keep up with the relevant published research of others - i.e. the idea of evidence-based practice. Nowadays it is a much more difficult and complex situation. The majority of working psychologists are expected to do research as an aspect of their employment. That is, modern psychologists are practitioner-researchers. As an example, many psychologists working for the forensic prison services contribute much of the research to their particular field of work. Not for a long time has research been purely what academic psychologists do and it is increasingly what every psychologist does. This is also true for many of the other professions that psychology graduates may enter. We are living in an information-based society and research provides a great deal of that information in the modern world. The bottom line of all of this is that basic statistical skills as well as research skills are generally advantageous in the employment market.

Students and statistics

Unlike most other disciplines, statistics (along with mathematics) is generally negatively evaluated in our culture. The average person in the street probably has an attitude to statistics without knowing anything much about what the discipline involves. That attitude is unlikely to be that statistics is an important, valuable and central part of modern life. Instead, many will groan at the very mention of the word. Hackneyed old phrases such as 'you can prove anything with statistics' and 'lies, damned lies and statistics' will be trotted out to dismiss its achievements. Of course, misleading with statistics is possible but it is not the objective of most statisticians. A few minor adjustments to a graph can lead to a grossly misleading impression at a stroke. A modest growth or decline in a graph may be dramatically changed to seem miraculous or calamitous. But such an important part of modern life as statistics deserves greater respect than this.

The word statistics comes from the Latin for State (as in nation). Statistics originally was the information collected by the State to help governments in their decision-making.

The government's appetite for such figures is prodigious and all of us are affected by them in some way. Pay, pensions and taxes are all partly determined by statistical data as well as where schools and colleges are built. And, of course, we are all part of statistics. Few modern professions do not use statistics in some way. Big supermarkets use it, small charities use it, the health services use it – you name it and they probably use statistics-based research. Without some statistical knowledge, doing and understanding research is very difficult and a precarious occupation.

Nevertheless, on a personal level, students study psychology to study psychology not to study statistics. Superficially it is possible to study psychology without statistics. Get deeper into psychology and some knowledge of statistics becomes increasingly necessary. This is not to deny the growing interest in qualitative research which does not involve statistics almost by definition. Much valuable research is done by qualitative researchers (Howitt, 2013). But this does not mean that quantitative statistical methods have released their grip on psychological research to any significant extent. Both qualitative and quantitative research seem to be prospering in psychology. Statistics and psychology are seemingly forever intertwined. OK, we are not serious that statistics is taught just to punish students – no matter that sometimes it may feel that way. You might try an alternative view of statistics - that it is a sort of cuddly friend which will help you in all sorts of ways. We are serious here. Criticisms of the dominance of statistics in psychology are common, of course. As much as anyone else, we are as against the mindless application of statistics in psychology for its own sake. Psychology may seem obsessed with a few limited statistical topics such as significance testing but this is to overlook the myriad of more far-reaching positive benefits to be gained from the proper application of modern statistical ideas. Statistics provides a means of finding order in otherwise vast sets of confusing data. Some of this variety of use is illustrated in Figure 1.1.



1.2 Research on learning statistics

Not surprising given the culturally negative view of statistics, the research on psychology students and statistics makes generally depressing reading. The response of student cultures to statistics can just about be summed up with the words trepidation and anxiety. For example, Gordon (2004) surveyed a large number of Australian students about their experience of statistics on psychology courses. Three-quarters said that they would not study statistics but for the fact that it was compulsory. Predominantly they saw it as boring and difficult. These unwilling students felt that statistics was not necessary to psychology or to being a psychologist. They approach statistics as if it were merely a few mechanical procedures that one applies without needing to understand why. One student put it this way to Gordon (1995):

I have a very pragmatic approach to university, I give them what they want ... I really do like knowledge for knowledge's sake, but my main motivation is to pass the course.

Although some students try to master the methods and concepts of statistics, they may have difficulty in understanding the importance of statistics. Those who saw statistics as being more personally meaningful in their studies would say things like 'It would probably be useful in whatever job I do' (Gordon, 1995). As might be expected, these more positively orientated students performed a little better in their statistics tests and examinations than the more negative group. The latter were not generally less able students since they did just as well as any other students in their other psychology courses. But not seeing the point of statistics did have a negative impact on their studies. Figure 1.2 provides a broad classification of students in terms of how they see the relevance of statistics and their personal assessment of the discipline.



1.3 What makes learning statistics difficult?

University staff commonly recognise that teaching statistics involves dealing with problems such as anxieties, beliefs and negative attitudes concerning the subject (Schau, 2003). Indeed, these background issues may be the most important things in the learning process and consequently have a bearing on statistics teaching. University can be an experience full of emotion, and emotion affects learning. This is perhaps more true for a topic such as statistics. Real tears are shed. One student told Gordon (1995), 'I was drowning in statistics' – words which are both emotive and extreme, of course. Being at university and studying statistics follows a long period of personal development through schooling (and for some at work). This background provides the individual with ways of perceiving their own personal learning processes and their education more generally. What they think they know about themselves (e.g. 'I'm no good at maths' or 'I'm an arty sort of person') impacts on their response to statistics. Personal histories, personal experiences, personal needs and personal goals are reflected in their strategies for coping with statistics (Gordon, 2004).

In other words, students bring to learning statistics baggage which may seriously interfere with its learning. Inevitably, high on the list of background factors is one's personal experience of mathematics. There is a strong belief that a high level of mathematical ability is crucial to the learning of statistics. This is reinforced by those universities which require good mathematical qualifications for admission to psychology degrees. Some students may (incorrectly) assume that statistics is beyond their mathematical ability. With so many other demands on their time at university, instead of getting down to studying statistics they may adopt avoidance tactics such as skipping lectures. Furthermore, every statistics class has its own culture in which students influence each other in terms of attitudes to learning statistics. A class dominated by students antagonistic to statistics is not a good learning environment, for example. The problem is that many chosen responses to statistics such as acting silly, talking in statistics lectures or plagiarising the work of other students just do not help. However, the importance of mathematical ability in using statistics effectively is questioned by many, including ourselves, as we shall see.

But I've always struggled with maths . . .

Research strongly indicates that three factors – anxiety, attitudes and ability (see Figure 1.3) are involved in learning statistics and other somewhat unpopular activities such as learning second languages (Lalonde and Gardner, 1993). A negative attitude towards statistics is associated with poorer performances in statistics to some extent but the other factors are at least equally important. Anxiety plays its part primarily through a specific form of anxiety known as mathematics (math) anxiety. This is more important than trait



or general anxiety such as where someone has a generally anxious personality in all sorts of situations. Mathematics anxiety is common among psychology students. Those with higher levels of mathematics anxiety tend to do worst in statistics. To be sure, mathematical ability is associated with better test and examination results, but not to a major extent. Poor mathematical ability has its influence largely because it is associated with increased levels of mathematical anxiety. It is because poorer maths ability leads to increased levels of mathematical anxiety that mathematical anxiety leads to poor learning strategies.

But is statistics particularly mathematical and, if it is, then does it need to be beyond a few basics? Along with others, we would argue that the level of mathematical ability needed to cope with the mathematical part of statistics is not great – fairly minimal in fact. We can safely lay aside the issue of the mathematical ability required to carry out statistical calculations as there are many computer programs such as SPSS and numerous applets on the Web which will do the calculation for you. Indeed, there is not a lot of sense in doing statistical calculations by hand as this invites errors to creep in. Computer programs, so long as you enter the data properly and tell them to do the right thing, will do the calculation without error. However, we do not believe that it is possible to learn statistics without using a little bit of mathematics. Equally, it is not necessary to go into all of the mathematical detail behind a statistical technique in order to understand the reasons why the technique was developed and how it can be used. You will find statistical textbooks for psychologists which fall at these extremes. The idea of statistics without maths or statistics without tears, even, cannot provide the necessary understanding in our view because some of the language of statistics is mathematical in nature. At the same time, books that rejoice in the mathematical intricacies of statistical techniques will lose many of their readers who simply do not have mathematical skills at this level. Best-selling statistics textbooks which appear to be student friendly and full of jokes will sometimes go into the most arcane detail about statistical techniques that are way beyond most of us. This seems to us just as unhelpful as not including any mathematics at all.

Just what mathematical knowledge does one need to get a working insight into statistics? By and large if you understand the concepts of addition, subtraction, multiplication and division then you have the basics. You may get the answers wrong – the question is, do you understand what you are doing? What might you need beyond this? Little more than the following we would say:

- You need to understand the concept of squaring (that is multiplying a number by itself).
- You need to understand the concept of square root (the square root of a number is that number which when multiplied by itself gives the original number).
- It is good too if you understand negative numbers such as that when multiplying two negative numbers you get a positive number but when you multiply a positive number by a negative number then the result is a negative number. A few minutes trying out positive and negative calculations on a calculator is a good way to refresh yourself of these basics.
- It is preferable if you understand the underlying principles or 'rules' governing mathematical formulae as these are used in statistical formulae but if you don't, your computer does.

Not much else is necessary – if you know what a logarithm is then you are in the ultraadvanced class. So we think that the amount of mathematics needed to make a good statistics student and a skilled user of statistical techniques in research is fairly minimal. Anything that has been forgotten or never learnt will be quickly picked up by a motivated student. Not all lecturers will share this opinion but the overwhelming majority know that students can struggle with statistics and try to provide teaching which serves the needs of all students taking the psychology programme and not the maths-able elite.

If more research evidence is needed, using a formal measure known as the Survey of Attitudes Toward Statistics, Zimprich (2012) was able to show that these attitudes towards statistics are made up of four components:

- Affect How positive or negative a student is about statistics (e.g. 'I will like statistics').
- Cognitive competence A student's beliefs about their ability and competence to do statistics (e.g. 'I will make a lot of maths errors in statistics').
- *Value* Attitudes concerning the relevance and usefulness of statistics (e.g. 'I use statistics in my everyday life').
- *Difficulty* The student's views about how difficult or easy statistics is (e.g. 'Statistics is a complicated subject').

All of these components were interrelated, as one might expect. When these attitudes were correlated with actual performance in statistics it was clear that attitudes were much more important than actual maths ability in students' performances in statistics. In other words, how a student feels about statistics has a far more tangible effect on their performance on statistical tests and examinations than their mathematical ability.

Irrespective of how mathematical statistics is or isn't, it has to be acknowledged that statistics is a unique and distinctive way of thinking (Ben-Zvi & Garfield, 2004; Ruggeri, Dempster & Hanna, 2011). It is much like mathematics in employing a distinctive language and concepts. Nevertheless it is wrong to think that this statistical language and these concepts have much in common with mathematics. This means that statistics will always be a somewhat 'different' subject irrespective of the curriculum involved. Crucially, statistics is about the use of quantitative research skills in the attempt to answer real research problems. Without being skilful in quantitative research methods, statistics can only partially be understood – and might seem pointless as a consequence. Although research skills take a lot of time and effort to learn, they are very little to do with mathematics – they are primarily about thinking logically. Statistics interfaces with this understanding of research methods in a way which is not simply remembering and then regurgitating a few statistical formulae and ideas when required to do so.

1.4 Positive about statistics

So how does one go about having a more positive attitude towards statistics? The answer lies in having an appreciation of what statistics does prior to being exposed to the nittygritty or detail taught in the stats lecture room. Take, for example, what is probably the best known statistical research – the national census. We discuss this in Chapter 2. This census, basically, is a questionnaire about all sorts of things of interest to the government and its decision-making, though probably less interesting to the rest of us. The head of every household is required to complete this detailed questionnaire for a particular day usually once every ten years. In the UK this has been going on for over 200 years. It is hard not to think, when the census envelope arrives, 'what a waste of time' and then 'what a waste of money'. This is possibly because we are all aware that researchers use samples. If research always was so comprehensive as to include everyone then little research would ever get done because of the time and expense involved. This is obvious, but only from the hindsight that comes with living in modern times – people had to invent sampling to replace censuses. And this in statistics had its origins in the work of William Gossett.

One of the most famous statistical techniques to impact psychology is the *t*-test (see Chapters 13 and 14) or the Student *t*-test as it is also known. Student was the pen name of William Gosset who had studied chemistry and mathematics at university. He was employed by the Guinness Brewery in Dublin as a 'bright young thing' in the 1890s. Even then, the firm believed in bringing new ideas to the company, thus keeping it abreast with developments. One issue relevant was that of quality control. There are obvious practical problems if every bottle or barrel of beer had to be tested, for example, in order to see if the alcoholic strength was constant throughout all batches. What Gosset did was to work out mathematically a way of estimating the extent that one is likely to be wrong (risks being wrong) if one took samples rather than tested the entire output. By how much are you likely to be wrong (or in error) if you simply took a sample, say, of ten bottles of beer? Of course, you will never know from a sample exactly what the error will be but Gosset was able to estimate what the likely extent of error will be. Put into a formula, this is the idea of standard error which plagues many students on introductory statistics courses. By developing this, Gosset had laid the systematic basis for doing research on samples rather than on everything. Think about it: if it had not been for Gosset's innovation then you would spend your lifetime carrying out your first research study simply because you need to test everyone or everything (the population). So rather than considering William Gosset as some sort of alien, it would be best to regard him as one of the statistical cuddly friends we mentioned earlier!

ls it statistically significant?

The point of Gosset's revolutionary ideas is probably easy to see when explained in this way. But instead students are introduced to what to them are rather complex formulae and the question 'Are your findings statistically significant?' The question 'Is it significant?' is one of the fixations of psychologists - the question probably sounds like a mantra to students when they first begin to study psychology. So intrusive is the question that for most students, statistics in psychology is about knowing what test of statistical significance to apply in what setting. But this is only a small part of statistics, which provides a whole range of tools to help researchers (and students) address the practical problems of research. Research data can be very simple but also very complex. Statistics helps sort out the complexity and uncertainty involved in understanding your data. Testing for statistical significance merely means assessing whether the trend in your data could have been obtained by choosing a random sample if, in reality, there was no trend in general. That is, how likely is it that the trend could simply be the result of a fortuitous selection of a sample in which there appears to be a trend? (A trend might be, say, athletes scoring more highly on a measure of personal ambition than non-athletes or a relationship between a measure of ability to speak foreign languages and a measure of sociability.)

What sample size do I need?

Testing for significance needs to be put into context. Really you want to know if there is any support for the ideas underlying your research question and the extent to which the trends in your data are big, little or non-existent. So if we put on our thinking head, and not our 'Is it significant?' head, we would ask rather more sophisticated questions. One would be whether if there really is a trend in our data, i.e. have we got a sample size big enough to show statistical significance for that trend? Statistics can help us with that question by helping us to decide the minimum sample size to show that trend to be statistically significant if there is a trend of a given size in reality rather than just in our data. There would be something perverse about planning research which involved a sample size so small that our findings could never be statistically significant. But that is done all of the time simply because researchers (especially students) do not address the question of minimum sample size properly. Often the advice is given to those asking what sample size to use is that they should use as big a sample size as possible. What does this mean? Possibly it means the largest sample size that you have the resources to collect. But the availability of resources is hardly a satisfactory basis on which to formulate research – that would be a bit like going shopping with the objective of spending money for its own sake rather than to buy something that is necessary. For socially important research, funding may be fairly readily available such as in the case of a cure for cancer. Does this mean that all resources should be put into a particular research question could be addressed satisfactorily with a fairly small sample size.

Research takes a lot of time, effort and organisation. So naturally many students will ask the perfectly reasonable question 'What sample size do I need?', but frequently they will fail to get a satisfactory answer. This is partly because too many psychologists regard 'statistical significance' as the be all and end all of research. The question that the student is asking is actually far more sophisticated than the answers they receive. The consequence of telling a student that they should get the biggest sample they can or that they should have a minimum sample of 50 or 100 or whatever is bewilderment on the part of the student, who realises but can't explain why these answers are inadequate. Statistics is about sophisticated decision-making concerning what can be said on the basis of the research but also about whether to proceed further with a particular line of inquiry. Statistical significance has a part to play in this decision-making but it does not mean that research findings are significant in any other respect - they may be uninteresting, they may not be of any practical significance, and they may not address any theoretically important issues yet they are deemed statistically significant. It is far better if students understand that there are many issues that a researcher needs to address in their work way beyond statistical significance – while accepting that statistical significance is important in its own way. Many chapters in this book (such as Chapters 11 and 18) discuss statistical significance but the important question of sample size is addressed only in Chapter 40.

Is there a trend in my data?

What the student really wants to know is the optimum sample size if there is truly a trend in the data (rather than one that is the consequence of the vicissitudes of sampling). Just taking the largest sample possible may result in a sample that is far too small or far too large. Both of these are unsatisfactory. A too-small sample might mean that your data do not reach statistical significance even where there is really in fact a trend in the real world. This research would be a waste of money and other resources as it cannot answer the question asked satisfactorily. A too-large sample might mean that very small and uninteresting trends in the data are statistically significant. Even where there is a substantial trend in the data, the too-large sample will nevertheless waste time and other resources because the question asked can be satisfactorily answered with a rather smaller sample. Imagine a big medical trial. This is likely to be expensive and every extra person in the research sample costs a great deal of money. This may be money wasted unnecessarily. For this reason, organisations that finance medical research expect the researcher to be able to say just what sample size is big enough to reach statistical significance if there is a trend in reality but not so big that a small, uninteresting trend is detected. What makes for an interesting trend is one which is sufficiently large that it has economic, commercial or some other form of potential. The size of the interesting trend depends on